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Prologue


In the late evening of 25 June 1828, the keepers of the light at Roche’s Point saw two square-rigged ships on the horizon, sailing together towards the entrance of Cork Harbour. At nine in the evening there was still light in the sky, the sun slowly sinking towards a dusky pink horizon behind the new arrivals. A swift pilot cutter set out from Robert’s Cove, expertly intercepting the boats. From the shore it looked like a routine homecoming, another of the hundreds of voyages each year to and from this busy harbour.


The keepers at the lighthouse identified one of the ships as the Mary Russell, ex-Cove, returning from a voyage to the West Indies. They were not familiar with her sailing companion, the Mary Stubbs of New Brunswick in British North America, but that was not surprising. The sheltered waters of Cork Harbour, and its strategic location on the southwest coast of Ireland, made it the landfall of choice for many ships that crossed the Atlantic or made the six-month-long journey from Australia. In Cork, then under British jurisdiction, they could top up their water after the long sea crossing, replenish food supplies, and send news of their safe arrival to their owners in London, Liverpool or Bristol. Then they would await orders for their next destination to unload their cargo.


The two boats hove to when they were intercepted by the pilot, who jumped aboard with an agility honed by years of practice and climbed up the steep side of the Mary Stubbs as directed by the ship’s captain. Captain Callendar explained that the Mary Russell was under the command of three of his sailors, and would follow them in.


As the pilot guided the two boats past the twin headlands, the sailors all felt the sudden ceasing of the ocean swell that marked their entrance into the calm waters of the wide harbour, Statio Bene Fida Carinis (A Good Safe Harbour for Ships), as the motto states. The two men and four boys who had set off from Cork aboard the Mary Russell, bowed their heads at the familiar calming of the waters, and made the sign of the cross, giving thanks to God for their safe homecoming. They looked with wonder and relief at the green wooded hills of the familiar shoreline, a sight they had never expected to see again. The pilot guided the boats past Spike Island and Haulbowline Island into the channel beside little town of Cove, where the Mary Stubbs dropped anchor; the Mary Russell hove to, and followed suit. Then the sailors tied on fenders and lashed the boats to each other, so that they lay rafted together, exactly as they had done six weeks ago in Barbados, their last port of call.


Leaving Barbados on 9 May, the Mary Russell had been a happy ship, heading home on a profitable voyage, her hold full of hides and prime Barbados sugar. Her captain, William Stewart, was an experienced mariner, known for his humanity and kindness, sailing with a small but able crew. This consisted of chief and second mate, a carpenter, three able-bodied seamen and three apprentice boys, travelling with four passengers: three men and an unaccompanied eleven-year-old boy in delicate health.


But instead of a high-spirited homecoming, they arrived in stunned silence. Their captain was not on board, and seven men lay brutally murdered in the main saloon. They had been tied up, hands and feet, then pinioned to the floor with more ropes, and violently killed by savage blows to the head. The floor was still sticky from the copious amounts of blood that had flowed from their bodies. It was four days since they had been killed, and the stench from the putrefying remains hung like a pall above the ship. The pilot on the accompanying schooner heard the story of the carnage from the only survivors of the voyage, four boys and two severely wounded seamen, as he piloted the Mary Stubbs to her anchorage. Curiosity compelled him to board the Mary Russell alongside, to see the bloody corpses with his own eyes. A seasoned mariner who had witnessed shipwreck and murderous bar-room brawls, he was shocked to the core by the brutal massacre that he glimpsed through the broken skylight of the Mary Russell’s main saloon. He too made the sign of the cross, as was customary in the presence of the dead, and said a silent prayer. Meanwhile, the sickly slaughterhouse smell gently wafted shorewards in a light southerly breeze on that late summer evening.


The news spread quickly among the shebeens and whorehouses of the Holy Ground on Cove’s seafront, travelling up its hilly slopes to the more salubrious streets inhabited by ship owners and sea captains, including Captain Stewart. Here his wife, Betsy, together with her four small children, had watched from the window every morning and evening for the past month, hoping that her husband would be home in time for the birth of their fifth child, due any day now. William Stewart was a loving husband, devoted to his children, a respected member of the local community, regarded as a kindly sea captain, popular with ship owners and crewmen alike. By the time the Mary Russell reached Cove, Betsy and the children were fast asleep, and nobody dared to wake her with the news. Word spread like wildfire along the waterfront, then up and down the hills of the small town: Captain Stewart was not with his ship; he had jumped overboard near Cape Clear, after murdering seven of his people. The names were familiar to many who heard them: William Swanson, John Cramer, Francis Sullivan, John Keating, James Raynes, Timothy Connell and James Morley. Seven families received tragic news, more shocking than any dreadful fate they had ever imagined for their loved ones, far away at sea. The Mary Russell at once became known as ‘the ship of seven murders’, but nobody yet knew why seven men had been murdered.


The next morning, a bright, sunny day, Reverend William Scoresby and his brother-in-law Colonel Fitzgerald were being rowed across Cork Harbour from Corkbegg to Cove, where Fitzgerald, a magistrate, had an appointment. The Reverend William Scoresby, Fellow of the Royal Society and Chaplain of the Mariners’ Church, Liverpool, had been married to Fitzgerald’s sister, Elizabeth, in Aghada, near her home, by the Bishop of Cloyne on 20 May. He was on an extended visit to her family’s waterside estate. Scoresby, originally from Whitby, was a distinguished seafarer and scientist, famed as an explorer of the Arctic regions, who had retired from the sea four years earlier, shortly after his first wife’s death, to take Holy Orders. His new wife’s childhood home, an extensive demesne on the inland side of Roche’s Point, pleased him greatly. A naturally curious man, and a highly observant note-taker, interested in everything, especially things nautical and scientific, he was enjoying the wide sweep of water between Corkbegg and Cove, with its low-lying islands and the busy variety of waterborne craft, when a fellow passenger pointed out the ship of seven murders. This is Scoresby’s account of that fateful day:




About twelve hours after the arrival of the vessel [the Mary Russell], in port being myself on a visit at Corkbegg, on the harbour of Cork, at the time, I happened to be crossing the water to Cove, when a gentleman in the boat, pointing to a brig at anchor, remarked, that ‘that, he believed, was the vessel of which the crew was reported to be murdered.’ Such an intimation, of course, produced an intense and painful desire to ascertain the fact. After landing one of the party, a lady, at her destination near Cove, we returned with excited, anxious and incredulous feelings, towards the anchorage. The rippled water reflected the bright rays of an unclouded sun in playful sparklings, and there was nothing in outward nature accordant with a scene of blood; neither was there anything in the external appearance of the vessel calculated either to indicate mortal conflict, or to justify the rumour which we had heard. One solitary man, like an Officer of Customs, was seen pacing in ordinary form and step the starboard side of the deck. We hailed, as we approached the gangway; and, too much excited to speak in measured words, abruptly asked ‘Whether a murder had been committed there?’ The answer of the person in charge was prompt and accordant, ‘It is too true; and here they are, all lying dead!’ On ascending the deck we were pointed aft to the cabin skylight, where a scene of carnage so appalling was exhibited, as to tender, by sympathy, association and memory combined, the impression indelible. Whilst contemplating the dreadful spectacle two boys, who had been witnesses of all its circumstance, made their appearance, and freely communicated the leading particulars of the sanguinary transaction.





William Scoresby is one of the earliest eyewitnesses of the terrible ‘scene of carnage’, as he calls it. He was also the first to interview the survivors of this catastrophe, even before the official Coroner’s inquest, which began later the same day. Fortunately for posterity, William Scoresby, a trained scientific observer, took detailed notes and wrote up his account of the tragedy of the Mary Russell, from which the words above are taken. It was published in 1830, and reprinted in his book Memorials of the Sea (1835).


The following reconstruction of the fateful voyage is based on facts recorded by William Scoresby in his initial interviews with the survivors, and in subsequent interviews with Captain Stewart, and on the sworn testimony of the survivors at the inquest and the murder trial, as it appeared in contemporary newspapers.







Part One


The Voyage
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The Cove of Cork, W. H. Bartlett, c. 1840.
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The Cove of Cork


The Mary Russell sailed from Cove in Cork Harbour on 7 February 1828, bound for Barbados with a cargo of mules. Her owners are listed in the Lloyd’s Register of British and Foreign Shipping for 1827 as Harvey & Co., and Pirie & Co. Trading boats were often owned by a consortium of investors, most of whom would own a share in more than one boat, in order to spread the risk, and hopefully maximise their profits. Only one of her owner’s names has been confirmed: James C. Hammond of The Cottage, Cove.


Mr and Mrs S. C. Hall (whom we shall meet again later) wrote an extensive account of a visit to Ireland in 1840, and open their book with a description of the geographic features of Cork Harbour, one of the world’s finest:




The distant appearance of Cork Harbour from the seaward approach is gloomy, rocky and inhospitable. But as the entrance between the two bold headlands – scarcely half a mile apart, and crowned by fortifications – opens upon the view, its character undergoes a complete change. The town of Cove, with the island of Spike which forms a sort of natural breakwater, and several smaller islands, give interest and variety to a noble expanse of sea that spreads out like a luxuriant lake to welcome the visitor.


The harbour is one of the most secure, capacious and beautiful in the kingdom and is said to be large enough to contain the whole navy of Great Britain. It is diversified by other islands beside that of Spike; one of which, Haulbowline, is the depot for naval stores.





Until the end of the eighteenth century, Cove was a small village built along the seafront at the bottom of a steep hill. The Cove of Cork, to give the place its full name, was twelve miles downriver from the city of Cork, built on the hilly, southward facing slopes of Great Island, above a beach and deep water anchorage. (Cove was renamed Queenstown following the visit of Queen Victoria in 1849, and reverted to its original name, in Irish transliteration, Cobh, in 1920). Its strategic importance became evident during the American War of Independence (1775–1781). Troops and supplies needed by the British forces fighting in America could assemble in the large, safe harbour to await a favourable wind before setting out on their transatlantic crossing. The British forces were a ready market for Cork’s massive output of salted beef and pork, salted fish, and kegs of prime Irish butter.


While merchants in Cork profited from provisioning the ships, Cove and the village of Passage West on the western shore of the River Lee, the nearest deep-water quay to Cork city, also grew and prospered. The importance of Cove and Passage West grew again during the British wars against France, which dragged on from the 1790s to 1815. Cove became an Admirals’ station, and harbour fortifications were increased, while the Royal Navy built handsome headquarters on Haulbowline Island, faced with cut stone. From Cove’s Spy Hill, which gave the best view of the deep-water anchorage, spectators could watch as huge British men-of-war, and smaller vessels assembled, waiting to depart in convoy. Signals were given by firing small cannon, and by the use of shrill whistles, as well as by flying particular combinations of flags. It was a busy stretch of water, and there was always some nautical activity to entertain spectators.


Cove was also a convenient assembly point for ships from other British ports, bound for the islands of the West Indies. In the early nineteenth century, merchant ships travelled in convoy, with an armed escort from the Royal Navy, to be better prepared against attacks by pirates and privateers – privately owned armed ships licensed by the warring governments to attack the enemy’s shipping. In 1806 there were 600 merchant vessels at anchor in Cove harbour, and 400 left together in convoy on one day. When an enemy privateer was captured and brought into harbour as a prize, a festive atmosphere would prevail among the smartly dressed officers, and the exotic ‘Jack Tars’ as seasoned sailors were called, who promenaded along the seafront, known as ‘the Beach’. Some sported long pigtails and gold earrings; the less fortunate stumped along on a wooden leg, and some had empty shirt sleeves where an arm had been amputated after battle.


From 1823 the prison ship, the Surprise, a tall old ship known as a hulk, no longer seaworthy, but used for accommodation, was anchored in the harbour off Cove where it became a familiar landmark. This floating prison, which could hold several hundred men, was used to relieve overcrowding in Cork’s gaols, caused by the large number of convicts, male and female, awaiting transportation to Australia. The first convict transport to Australia left Cove in April 1791. Between 1823 and 1838 over 5,000 men spent time on the hulk, awaiting transportation. By 1828 passenger berths for ‘respectable people’ to ‘the thriving and beautiful colonies’ in Van Diemen’s Land and New South Wales were being advertised regularly in the Cork Constitution. Emigration to America was growing steadily too, with transports leaving for Quebec, New Brunswick (then in British North America) and New York.


By 1828, Cove was a small town with a population of about 7,000 inhabitants, with numerous shipwrights, chandlers, rope makers, vintners, drapers and a thriving red light district on the seafront, the Beach, known as the Holy Ground. Cove offered sea bathing along its shoreline, and was beginning to promote itself as a popular resort to visitors from Cork city and further afield. The mildness of its south-facing aspect and the salty sea tang were believed to promote good health.


Fota Island and Great Island form the northern side of the channel in which the River Lee flows to the sea; opposite were the villages of Monkstown, Passage and Passage West in the parish of Marmullane. The parish was bounded on the west by the liberties of Cork city, and on the south by Monkstown. Monkstown was then a village of about 700 inhabitants, built on the shore of the River Lee beneath a deep wooded glen, with panoramic views of the harbour. In 1828 Monkstown had a large number of newly built detached villas and cottages near the waterside, chiefly used as summer homes by wealthy Cork families.


Passage West, nearer to the city, had about 2,000 inhabitants at this time, having developed rapidly in the past fifty years, owing to its sheltered location at the inland extremity of the deep water harbour. Its main street ran parallel to the shore for almost a mile, and was intersected by smaller streets and lanes, many of them inhabited by workers, who lived in poor conditions in mud cabins surrounded by dirt. Work was plentiful, as vessels of over 100 tons were unloaded or partially unloaded at Passage West, before proceeding to the city’s quays on the high tide, and the cargos were transferred to Cork city by barges or lighters. The first paddle steamer to be built in Ireland, the City of Cork, was built in Hennessy’s Boatyard at Passage West and launched on 10 September 1815. The advent of regular steamer ferries greatly increased ease of communication for those living around the harbour. It was now possible, for example, to live in Passage or Monkstown and work in Glanmire, on the opposite bank of the Lee, or to commute on a daily basis by water into the city centre.


Shipbuilding and repair work were an important source of work for both skilled and labouring men in Passage West. There was also a forge, rigging and sail lofts, and extensive warehouse activity. High above the town, a cottage-like Catholic church stood in Kilmurray Graveyard, which looked out across the wide harbour.


In 1826 there were two Protestant schools and one Catholic charity school in Marmullane Parish. A contemporary survey reports ‘The children are educated in reading, writing and arithmetic, and are then bound out to ship-carpenters, shoemakers, smiths, tailors, masons and the sea service, and are also employed in sea fishing’. This is the kind of education that the three boys on the Mary Russell would recently have finished, aged twelve, and the alternative prospects open to them.


Frequent passenger ferries ran between Passage West and Carrigaloe on the opposite shore, a five-minute crossing. Access to Cork city by road was much easier from Passage West than from Cove. The journey from Passage West to Cork took about an hour and a half by road. There were over a hundred horse-drawn passenger transports known as ‘jingles’ available for hire. Passage, like Cove, was a popular destination for sea bathing and recreation. By 1828, Irish merchants were experiencing the after-effects of the Act of Union (1801), as tariffs that had remained in place to protect Irish manufacturers were gradually removed. The linen industry, as well as marine-related industries, were adversely affected by an influx of cheap, British-manufactured goods. This new trade was facilitated by the introduction of inexpensive, reliable, cross-channel steamers between Ireland and England.


The St George Steam Packet Company was founded in 1821, and regular steamship passages between Cork and Bristol were introduced. While an old-fashioned ‘sailing packet’, a small schooner or sloop, could take anything from three to four days to three or four weeks, depending on wind and weather, to make the crossing, the steamships regularly crossed from Cork to Bristol in twenty-four hours. The company also introduced services from Cork to Dublin, Liverpool and London, which brought about a great improvement in regular communication between the two islands. In those pre-telegraph days, regular cross-channel services were a boon to the many English-based ship owners whose boats made their transatlantic landfall at Cove. Such ships might have been out of direct contact with their owners for anywhere between six months and two years, and the Cove landfall gave their owners a chance to decide where the ship should best proceed to unload her cargo. Cove, with its many seafarers, was also a good place to replace crew members lost through illness, injury or death.


By 1828 the wartime boom years had long gone, the local economy was in decline, and merchant shipping was greatly reduced. The number of sea captains and able-bodied seamen awaiting a berth on a sea voyage greatly exceeded the number of boats leaving Cove. So when Captain Stewart came to assemble a crew for his trip to the West Indies, he had an unusually good selection of men from whom to choose.
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The Ship, Her Crew and Cargo


The Mary Russell’s captain, William Stewart, was a Protestant, born in Cove in 1775, the second child of a mariner from Cove, also called William Stewart, and his wife, Catherine, née Carey. Captain Stewart was experienced sea captain, popular with ship owners for his reliability and honesty. At the time of his marriage in 1815 he was recorded as being a resident of Chatham in Kent. Chatham was a large naval base, which is probably where he learnt his trade in the Royal Navy. Captain Stewart does not appear in the 1828 Navy List, so he was not a commissioned officer. However, there was a surplus of officers at the end of the Napoleonic wars, when about 100,000 officers and seamen were unceremoniously ‘dumped on the beach’, the naval term for losing one’s seafaring employment. Stewart may well have trained as a midshipman and passed his examination for lieutenant, then opted for the merchant marine rather than endure the long and uncertain wait for a commission in the Royal Navy. His age in 1828, fifty-three, was not unusual for a captain, but certainly put him among the senior members of his profession. Among the ships’ crews he had a reputation for fairness and humane treatment, an important quality in an age when flogging with a special whip known as a cat-of-nine-tails was still a commonplace punishment.


Stewart was a slightly built man about 5 foot 8 inches tall, with reddish-sandy hair. On 31 January 1815, he married a Catholic, Elizabeth (Betsy) Turnbull of Carrigaloe, near Cove. James C. Hammond, a fellow Protestant and one of the owners of the Mary Russell, was one of two witnesses of this wedding, which took place at Clonmel Parish Church (Protestant) in Cove.


The Stewarts lived in a south-facing house looking out across Spike Island to Cove Harbour. Betsy liked to stand at the first-floor window and watch the ships passing by on their way in or out of the harbour. Having grown up in nearby Carrigaloe, she would have known many of the ship’s captains, mates and owners. When her husband’s ship was leaving or arriving, she would call the children and let them watch. When Stewart left on the voyage to Barbados in February 1828, he had four children under ten: Henry (born 1818), Francis (1821), Margaret Jane (1823) and Timothy (1826), with another baby due in July. Captain Stewart confidently expected to be back in Cove by mid-June, in good time for the birth.


His chief mate, William Smith, a Scotsman, was an experienced mate, who had sailed with Stewart before. Smith had a wife and family in Cove. The second mate was a Swede, William Swanson, both being typical of the cosmopolitan mix of mariners to be found in Cove. (Swanson is presumably an English version of Svenson, as there was no ‘w’ in the Swedish alphabet at the time). To this day, the names of long-established Cobh families betray their seafaring origins: Rasmussen, Verling, Stromso, Carlos, Patchkey, English and Cardy are no more exotic to a native of today’s Cobh than more typical Cork names like Barry, Dwyer, Murphy, Cotter, Broderick, Keating, Sullivan, Scully and Connell. Stewart itself is an Ulster-Scots name, more commonly found in areas in the north of Ireland that were ‘planted’ by Scottish Protestants in seventeenth century, particularly Londonderry.


The rest of the men on board have local names: John Cramer, carpenter; seamen John Howes, Francis Sullivan and John Keating, and three apprentices: the senior apprentice John Deaves (aged fifteen), Daniel Scully (thirteen) and Henry Richards (twelve). The ship’s carpenter, John Cramer, travelled with his own tools, and would be prepared to meet any eventuality that might befall a wooden ship on a long sea crossing. Given that everything that made the ship sail involved wood, and that wood needs constant maintenance and repair, especially under the strain of a prolonged sea voyage, the carpenter was likely to be a busy man.


There were also two ostlers (stablemen or grooms) on board to look after the mules, Timothy Connell and James Morley. Timothy Connell had family in Passage West. James Morley, also spelt Murley, was an Irish-speaker, with poor English. He most likely originated from the Cork hinterland, where Irish was still the dominant language. Young Francis Sullivan was the son of a Mr Sullivan who worked at the Custom House in Cork city. Cramer, Howes and Keating were from the Cork area, most likely either Passage or Cove, but we have not been able to trace any record of Cramer, or Keating, all common names in the Cork area, nor of the more unusually named Howes, sometimes spelt Howse.


The senior apprentice, John Deaves, must have been to sea before to have gained his rank. The company that sold the Mary Russell’s cargo at auction were the long-established Quaker company, Deaves Brothers of Lapp’s Island; John Deaves was probably from a branch of that family as it is an unusual name. Daniel Scully and Henry Richards (sometimes spelt Rickards) were on their first long voyage, on trial for an apprenticeship. They had the chance to learn the trade of able seaman, and perhaps eventually progress to mate. Meanwhile, they were on the very lowest rung, and owing to the smallness of the crew would double as cooks and cabin boys.


Like all boys growing up in a busy port, they would have used the waterfront as their playground, rowing a dinghy as naturally as other boys kicked a ball, learning their knots and knowing their way around a sailing ship from an early age. Potential officers joined the Royal Navy with the rank of midshipman at thirteen. Once a boy from the labouring class reached the age of twelve, he would be expected to start contributing to the family income; families with over twenty children were not unusual at the time, and the elder children would be expected to become economically independent as soon as possible.


In addition to his crew, Captain Stewart had one passenger on board, an eleven-year-old boy, Thomas Hammond, the son of his friend James C. Hammond, of The Cottage, Cove. He was a year older than Stewart’s eldest son, Henry. There were close links between the Stewart family and the Hammonds: James C. Hammond had been a witness at William Stewart’s wedding, and when the Hammond’s child John was baptised on 20 February 1822, William Stewart was his godfather. Young Thomas, described as a delicate child, was travelling in the hope of benefiting from the warm climate of Barbados. The dry season in Barbados runs from January to June, and the Mary Russell’s voyage was timed to arrive in late March. The hot, dry weather in Barbados had long been believed to be of benefit to sufferers of tuberculosis. George Washington, future President of the United States of America, arrived on the shores of Barbados with his younger half-brother, Lawrence, on 2 November 1751, and stayed for four months, seeking relief for Lawrence’s tuberculosis.


Thomas Hammond was the eldest of six children. Because two of Captain Stewart’s children have a godparent by the name of Richards, there is a possibility that the third of the three apprentices, Henry Richards, was a friend of Thomas Hammond, and was on board partly to provide the delicate child with some company, as well as to gain the experience of a long sea voyage. Of the hundreds of young boys eager to be on board and start their working life with a voyage to the exotic West Indies, Captain Stewart must have had very good reasons for choosing Daniel Scully and Henry Richards. The same applies to his choice of mates, William Smith and William Swanson, his carpenter John Cramer and his team of seamen, John Howes, Francis Sullivan and John Keating.


Voyages to the West Indies were becoming rarer because the pattern of trade was changing, due to the outlawing of the slave trade and the increasing self-sufficiency of the plantation owners in Barbados. The West Indies were not a popular destination with sailors, being seen as unhealthy and feared contracting tropical fevers (which were often fatal) on the dockside. Captain Stewart himself had declined voyages in the early 1820s on the grounds that hot weather did not suit him: it ‘made him apprehensive of his head’. But times had changed, work was scarce, and a berth on this three- to four-month voyage would be much sought-after. Stewart would have the pick of the best that Cove, Passage West and Cork had to offer, selected from the great throng of seamen seeking a job in those economically depressed times. John Howes was an obvious choice, a large, exceptionally strong man, of excellent character, a good type to have on board for a long transatlantic voyage, when anything could happen. Sullivan’s father in the Custom House perhaps helped his son gain a place with the owner’s favourite, Captain Stewart.


The Mary Russell was a small wooden brig of 132 tons, drawing 13 feet under load, single-decked with beams. She was eleven years old in 1828, relatively new for a sailing ship. That tonnage would make her about 80 feet in length, somewhat smaller than an average whaler of that era. Sailing ships in the 1820s were much smaller than they would become later in the century. The Mary Russell was built entirely of wood, with wooden masts and rope rigging. However, her bottom was sheathed in copper to protect the vessel from shipworm, and also to inhibit the growth of algae and crustaceans on the hull, which would slow down the vessel through the water.


She was snow-rigged (a form of square rigging), the conventional rigging for a small merchantman. As a brig she had two square-rigged masts, fore and main, and a trysail (sometimes called a snow) on the mainmast rigged fore and aft. The foremast had three sets of sails: topgallants, topsails and mainsails, also known as courses, while the mainmast had topgallants and topsails above its trysail. There were three jibs to for’ard, with the bowsprit to carry her jib sails adding another 12 feet to her length overall. She carried a clinker-built longboat about 18 feet in length, hanging from davits at her stern, for rowing ashore from her mooring, which could also serve as a lifeboat in an emergency. The longboat traditionally was an eminently seaworthy boat with fairly fine lines, to allow its use in steep waves, such as surf, or wind against tide.


The quarterdeck, a deck that ran from the rear of the mainmast to the stern of the boat, was the place from which the captain or one of his mates controlled the ship, similar to the ‘bridge’ on a modern ship. Towards the stern, on the starboard side of the quarterdeck, facing to the rear, a companionway (a box-like covering that stood proud of the deck) gave access to a ladder down to the main cabin. This was a relatively spacious area about 12 feet wide by 8 or 9 feet long, the main living area for the captain, his mates and any passengers. The clearance between the floor of the cabin and the beams of the upper deck was about 5 feet 10 inches, a comfortable enough height for the average male of the time. It was a pleasant room, with light pouring in through windows in the stern and from a small skylight overhead in the quarterdeck. On each side of the cabin was an open berth, and at the front of the cabin, near to the sides of the ship, were entrances to the master’s and the mate’s berths. Between the two, amidships, was an enclosed space about 6 foot square on the floor, usually used as a bread-room (a small area that could reliably be kept free of vermin such as rats, mice, weevils and cockroaches that were endemic on wooden ships).


The area for’ard of the mainmast on the same level as the quarterdeck was the forecastle (usually shortened to fo’c’sle, pronounced foxle), and was where the seamen congregated (hence, the expression ‘sailing before the mast’, which indicated sailing as an ordinary seaman, as opposed to an officer). On the Mary Russell, as on most small brigs of her era, the living quarters of the sailors were directly below the fo’c’sle, accessed by a ladder and companionway.


These were the final days of the classic pattern of merchant shipping out of Cork, before the introduction of steam changed everything. Ships came into Cork with miscellaneous cargos that were sold by auction, the auctions being advertised in local papers. Almost everything was packed in wooden barrels (anchovies, herring, almonds, tobacco, Barbados sugar) or wooden boxes (Muscatel raisins, lemons, China oranges, pekoe tea direct from China). Then the ships advertised their departure, for Lisbon or Malaga or wherever, and sought cargo and/or passengers for that port. On her outward voyage to Barbados the Mary Russell’s cargo is listed as mules. In Cove the animals would be able to walk on board across a gangplank from the deep-water quay. On arrival in Barbados, the animals would be sold by auction to the highest bidder, either individually or in small groups, as was the custom.


Much of the trade out of the port of Cork consisted of live animals, described as ‘on the hoof’, whether beef cattle, cows in calf, bullocks and heifers, horses or pigs. Traditionally the animals were carried on deck, tethered wherever a suitable place could be found between the rigging, though some might also travel in the hold. In previous years cattle had been exported to Barbados, but the plantation owners were now successfully breeding their own herds, hence the clever idea of taking out a cargo of mules.


A mule is a hybrid: the offspring of a male donkey and a mare. (The offspring of a she-ass and a stallion is often called a mule, but is technically a hinny.) Both mules and hinnies are nearly always sterile, so a plentiful supply of mares is needed to breed mules, and a plentiful supply was available in Ireland, but not in Barbados. A mule handler knows that the mule’s reputation for stubbornness is undeserved. Mules are more patient, sure-footed, and hardy than horses, and also live longer. They are less obstinate than donkeys. Exactly the qualities that made the mule a sought-after animal on Irish small-holdings – good pack animals, nimble-footed on mountainous terrain, hardy, intelligent and versatile – would also apply in the rocky terrain of inland Barbados. In addition, their skin is harder and less sensitive than that of horses, and they are better at resisting extremes of sun and rain. Because they are a hybrid, mules are said to be more intelligent than either their donkey or equine parent species. The only drawback to the mule is that it can kick in any direction, with each of its hooves, even sideways (known as a cow kick).
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